
 

 

 
Fish Hatcheries Overview   
 
Conservationists in the early 20th century tended to believe that man could improve on 
nature. The first conservation plan for Banff, issued in the 1880s, featured various 
suggestions to make Banff’s nature better including a recommendation that a fish 
hatchery be established.1 In western Canada ideas about improvement were coupled 
with concerns about rapid loss of once abundant wildlife as a result of settlement and 
exploitation and the desire to regulate fishing and hunting to reduce pressure on 
populations. Sports hunting and fishing were given precedence over hunting and fishing 
for food.2 A fish hatchery was established at Banff in 1913; Waterton’s followed in 1928, 
and a third hatchery was built in Jasper in 1941.3 These hatcheries were intended to help 
build up favoured species of fish, especially those that were seen as good sport. In 
general, hatcheries were seen as more efficient than nature in producing fish. Hatchery 
programs received strong community support.4 

By the early 1970s only the Jasper hatchery was still in operation. Plagued by disease, it 
closed in June 1973. Since then policies regarding fish stocking and aquaculture have 
changed with more emphasis placed on sustaining natural populations. Sport fishing 
remains popular with park visitors.5 

Waterton’s Fish Hatchery and Rearing Ponds 
 
Public pressure from a variety of groups in Southern Alberta came to the fore in 1925 to 
convince the government to build a fish hatchery in Waterton.6 The federal Department 
of Marine and Fisheries acknowledged the need for a hatchery the following year and 
sent representatives to find a suitable location in the park. The final choice was on 
Spring Creek just north of the Waterton River adjacent to Highway 6 north of the main 
entrance road.7 Here the water was said to flow year round at a moderate current.  

The tide of bureaucracy, however, did not move swiftly and it was not until August, 1927 
that a call for tenders was made for construction of a small dam, a hatchery building and 
residence to be completed within three months.8 Working in conjunction with J. B. 
Harkin, commissioner of national parks and Herbert Knight, Waterton’s acting 
superintendent, employees of the Department of Marine and Fisheries drew up plans  
for the new facility. The successful bidder was Oland and Scott Construction of Cardston 
whose fine reputation had been demonstrated in the completion of numerous local 
projects.9  Their price for the hatchery project was $11,566.62.10 Oland and Scott began 
work January 23 and by mid-March the residence for the hatchery superintendent was 
nearly finished.11 The hatchery itself was completed shortly afterward becoming the 
second such facility in Canada’s national park system.12 It was Southern Alberta’s only 
hatchery and provided fish stock to the entire region.  

A Lethbridge Herald reporter, in writing nearly a full page story on completion of the 
hatchery  noted, “It is true that local sportsmen have been active in this matter and they 
have been well supported by all agencies which have been anxious to provide good sport 
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for the tourists, for it is a 
known fact that tourists look 
upon Canada as a 
splendid…fishing ground and 
they are coming [to the park] 
in ever-increasing numbers to 
enjoy the sport ....”13  

The tide of bureaucracy, 
however, did not move swiftly 
and it was not until August, 
1927 that a call for tenders was 
made for construction of a 
small dam, a hatchery building 
and residence to be completed 
within three months.14 
Working in conjunction with J. 
B. Harkin, commissioner of 
national parks and Herbert Knight, Waterton’s 
acting superintendent, plans were drawn for the 
new facility by employees of Marine and 
Fisheries. The successful bidder was Oland and 
Scott Construction of Cardston whose fine 
reputation had been demonstrated in the 
completion of numerous local projects.15  Their 
price for the hatchery project was $11,566.62.16 
Oland and Scott began work January 23 and by 
mid-March the residence for the hatchery 
superintendent was nearly finished.17 The 
hatchery itself was completed shortly afterward 
becoming the second such facility in Canada’s 
national park system.18  

Fish stocking had begun in Waterton in 1922 
thanks to the cooperative efforts of a Bozeman, 
Montana, hatchery which delivered the first 
shipment of 30,000 Eastern Brook Trout to the 
headwaters of Waterton Lakes. This work, a 
decade before the establishment of Waterton-
Glacier International Peace Park, was touted by the local newspapers.19 The practice 
continued over the course of several years. 

The first hatchlings from the new facility, just over 82,000, were transplanted by the end 
of September, 1929, in area streams and were supplemented by fish from the Banff 
National Park hatchery. Waterton was able to stand on its own the second year of 
operation planting no less than 1.4 million fry and fingerlings in 74 different creeks and 

The fish hatchery and residence were located on Highway 6 just 
north of the registration building. (Photo: WLNP Archives)   
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rivers and in 13 lakes 
throughout southern Alberta. 
The hatchery territory 
extended from north of 
Claresholm, Alberta, west to 
the Livingstone Gap and 
south to the international 
boundary.20  

Waterton visitors—fishermen 
or not—found the hatchery of 
great interest and it became 
not only a producing facility 
but also an educational 
tourist attraction.21 Operation 
of the hatchery was 
transferred from the 
Department of Marine and 
Fisheries to the Department 
of the Interior in 1931 but retained its own specialized superintendent who reported to 
the Waterton superintendent. 22 Fish stocking proceeded at a steady pace and by 1932 all 
of Waterton’s lakes had been stocked, the last being Crypt Lake which proved to be the 
most demanding because of its location.23  

By 1938, eight concrete rearing ponds24 and 
an attendant’s cabin were put into service in 
the townsite south of Cameron Falls. With 
its immaculate grounds, the rearing ponds 
created a showplace in the townsite25 as well 
as providing an opportunity for visitors to 
learn about the science of fish 
management.26 The hatchery itself was not 
without its attractions as well with 
immaculate landscaping and was the scene 
of a successful garden party-fund raiser 
during the Second World War.27 

There were improvements at the ponds 
beginning in 1951 when signs were installed 
to inform visitors of the age and variety of 
fish in the ponds and in 1953 display cases 
were built to show the development of trout 
from the time the eggs were one week old 
through to the fish being 36 weeks old.28  

The hatchery closed in 1960 when “the consolidation of fish hatchery operations with 
those at Jasper National Park was effected. Although the hatchery buildings were 

The rearing ponds were supervised by an attendant who lived on site 
and also provided information to visitors about fish rearing. (Photo: 
WLNP Archives)   

At the end of the summer, the fish in the rearing 
ponds were transplanted to park waters. (Photo: 
WLNP Archives)   
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converted to other uses, the rearing ponds inside the hatchery were retained for holding 
adult fish stocks which were captured for egg collection” and returned to their home 
waters.29  

The townsite rearing ponds were scheduled to be removed in 1971, but public pressure 
on politicians resulted in an extension  until 1973 at which time all but two of the ponds 
were shut down because of a fish disease. The entire operation in the townsite ceased in 
the fall of 1976.30 

Today there are 17 native species and seven species of non-native fish in Waterton Lakes 
National Park. Stocking of many of  Waterton’s lakes ceased in 1972 and ended entirely 
in 1987.31  
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